# ELECTRONICALLY FILED 2015 Dec 09 AM 11:37 CLERK OF THE APPELLATE COURT NO. 15-114199-A NUMBER: 114199

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF KANSAS

STANTON D. BARKER, Plaintiff/Appellant,

VS.

KANSAS DEPARTMENT OF LABOR, and CREATIVE CONSUMER CONCEPTS Defendants/Appellees.

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

Appeal from the District Court of Shawnee County, Kansas The Honorable Richard D. Anderson, District Judge District Court Case No. 14 C 546, Div. No. 7

Adam M. Hall, #23664
COLLISTER & KAMPSCHROEDER
Attorneys at Law
3311 Clinton Parkway Court
Lawrence, Kansas 66047-2631

Phone:

785-842-3126

Fax:

785-842-3878

E-mail:

collkamp@sbcglobal.net

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#### **NATURE OF THE CASE**

This is an appeal from the judgment of the District Court of Shawnee County, Kansas, Hon. Richard D. Anderson, denying the Plaintiff/Appellant's Petition for Review of Agency Action. The Plaintiff had requested that the district court find error in the proceedings before the Kansas Department of Labor concerning a wage claim.

#### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

- I. Whether the Kansas Department of Labor erroneously interpreted or applied the law when it concluded that Mr. Barker's "at-will" employment status precluded a recovery of commissions payable after the termination of his employment?
- II. Whether the Kansas Department of Labor erroneously construed the comprehensive commission plan when it concluded that continued employment was a condition precedent to payment under the commission plan?

III. Whether the Kansas Department of Labor erroneously failed to determine Mr. Barker's entitlement to wages under the 2011 amended commission plan?

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about July 8, 2009, Stanton D. Barker began employment with Creative Consumer Concepts, Inc. ("C3"). (R. Vol. 1, 33, at ¶1). At the time, C3 was engaged in the business of, relevantly, creating and providing child-entertainment packages to restaurants, *e.g.* crayons, play-doh, and activity books. See (R. Vol. 1, 48); and (R. Vol. 1, 153-54). Mr. Barker was the only employee doing his type of work at C3, to wit: "business development." See (R. Vol. 1, 33, at ¶2); and (R. Vol. 1, 48). Mr. Barker's essential function as "Director of Business Development" was to search for new business leads, qualify the new business, and then pass the account to a client service person. See (R. Vol. 1, 33, at ¶2); and (R. Vol. 1, 48).

When C3 extended a job offer to Mr. Barker, it offered him a base salary plus a "Comprehensive Commission Plan based on Gross Profit." (R. Vol. 1, 33, at ¶3); see also (R. Vol. 1, 48) (the initial plan). This "plan" allowed for commissions to be paid to Mr. Barker as follows: "5% of Gross Profit paid for the first year – 1% of Gross Profit residual commission for years 2-5." (R. Vol. 1, 48). The "plan" continued that:

"This commission plan pertains to our core business where we work under the 'value added model' and ultimately provide collateral items and/or premiums for our clients. We will have to create a different commission plan for new products/services that would fall outside this model. (examples being Design Services, Agency Retainers, Online Projects, etc....). The year is defined as the first twelve months that product is actually shipped (i.e. beginning shipping product to client Nov, 2009, so the first year of commission would be defined as Nov, 2009 – Oct, 2010). This commission will be paid on a quarterly basis; the month following the calendar year quarter."

(R. Vol. 1, 48).

This initial plan was amended on January 1, 2011, to extend the 5% of Gross Profit paid during the first year to include the second year. (R. Vol. 1, 34, at ¶4); see also (R. Vol. 1, 50) (the amended plan). The ancillary language from the initial plan, quoted above, remained the same. (R. Vol. 1, 50).

Sometime in early 2012, the plan was amended again to reflect an additional change. (R. Vol. 1, 34, at ¶5). However, this third plan was not signed by the chief executive officer of C3, Bob Cutler. (R. Vol. 1, 34 at ¶5); and (R. Vol. 1, 36, at ¶¶8-9). Because this plan was not signed by Bob Cutler, the Administrative Hearing Officer refused to give its terms effect. (R. Vol. 1, 36, at ¶¶8-9). Mr. Barker initially appealed this ruling, but he abandoned this claim in district court proceedings. See (R. Vol. 1, 8, at ¶6.3); and (R. Vol. 2, 30-39).

Sometime in the middle of 2012, Mr. Barker requested a "draw" on money from his future commission payments. (R. Vol. 1, 34, at ¶6); and see (R. Vol. 1, 260-261) (supporting documentation – email exchange). Upon this request, Bob Cutler, C3 CEO,

sent an email to Mr. Barker and Ginny Harris, controller for C3, on this subject. (R. Vol. 1, 260-61). Mr. Cutler explained that "there are two kinds of draws, recoverable and non-recoverable." *Id.* at 260. Mr. Cutler further declared that:

"This is a recoverable draw. Meaning if you leave the organization or are asked to leave the amount of the draw not due based on actual documented sales as of that date are to be returned to the company.

One could say we have a liability of the smart sales guy quit one the day of his paycheck and we had no recourse [sic]

The good news is we are not that stupid and we will have you sign this email with Ginny so you know what your getting into [sic]

Especially given you are in the midst of a career change...."

(R. Vol. 1, 261). Upon receiving this declaration, Mr. Barker responded: "I have chosen to hold off on this draw." (R. Vol. 1, 34, at ¶7); (R. Vol. 1, 260).

On or about March 6, 2012, Mr. Barker was given a C3 employee handbook. (R. Vol. 1, 34, at ¶8); see also (R. Vol. 1, 57-143) (the handbook). On page 5 of the handbook is a section containing certain acknowledgements. See (R. Vol. 1, 34, at ¶8); (R. Vol. 1, 61) (the referenced page). Those acknowledgements include:

"I have received and read a copy of the C3 handbook...." (emphasis in original).

"I further understand that my employment is terminable at will, either by myself or C3..." (emphasis in original).

"I understand that **no contract of employment other than 'at will' has been expressed or implied**, and that no circumstances arising out of my employment will alter my 'at will' employment relationship unless expressed in writing, with the understanding specifically set forth and signed by myself and the CEO of Creative Consumer Concepts, Inc." (emphasis in original).

(R. Vol. 1, 34, at ¶8); (R. Vol. 1, 61).

On August 31, 2012, Mr. Barker ended his employment with C3. See (R. Vol. 1, 468). On January 8, 2013, he filed a claim for wages against C3 with the Kansas Department of Labor. *Id.* Mr. Barker alleged that C3 wrongfully failed to pay him commissions for business that he procured as Director of Business Development for C3. (R. Vol. 1, 469). Mr. Barker's theory was that (1) he brought certain business into C3 prior to the end of his employment, (2) he bargained to be paid a commission for the business he brought into C3 -- as evidenced by the commission plans, and (3) C3 failed to pay him a commission for the business he brought into C3 prior to the end of his employment. *See id.* 

On January 23, 2013, C3 filed its response to Barker's claim for wages. (R. Vol. 1, 458-66). C3 denied that it owed any commissions and stated, materially, that "[a]ll compensation for all employees cease when employment terminates." *Id.* at 461. The parties litigated this essential dispute and many related matters before the Kansas Department of Labor. See (R. Vol. 1, generally). On March 20, 2014, the Kansas Department of Labor issued its initial order denying Mr. Barker's wage claim. (R. Vol. 1, 33-39). On April 7, 2014, Mr. Barker filed his Petition for Review of Initial Order. (R. Vol.

1, 30-32). On May 8, 2014, the Kansas Department of Labor issued its final order denying Mr. Barker's wage claim. (R. Vol. 1, 21-22). Importantly, the Agency Final Order "adopt[ed] the findings of fact and conclusions of law of the Presiding Officer [in the Initial Order]," and "included [them therein] by reference." (R. Vol. 1, 21).

On June 9, 2014, Mr. Barker filed his Petition for Review of Agency Action with the Shawnee County, Kansas District Court (R. Vol. 2, 3-17). The Kansas Department of Labor filed its answer on June 17, 2014. (R. Vol. 2, 18-19). C3, as interpleader, filed its answer on August 11, 2014 (R. Vol. 2, 26-29). At the district court level, the parties, through their respective counsel, entered into stipulations for the purposes of judicial review -- and consistent with K.S.A. 77-620(c). (R. Vol. 1, 61-64). Those stipulations, although largely duplicative of the facts above, were as follows:

"These stipulations, which follow, were made in lieu of a transcript of the administrative hearing in this matter, and they were entered into to supplement the Agency Record previously filed with the Court:

- 1. The 2012 commission structure document signed by Shad Foos was not binding on C-3. (Plaintiff enters this stipulation with the caveat that he believes this is a stipulation of law, not binding on the Court. See, e.g. In re Dawson, 162 B.R. 329, 333 (Bankr. D. Kan. 1993))
- 2. The CEO of C-3, admitted that he signed the first two commission structure documents.
- 3. The third commission structure document was signed by Shad Foos, "executive team," in 2012.
- 4. Shad Foos was not the CEO of C-3 at the time he signed the third commission structure agreement.
- 5. At the Agency hearing on this matter, Robert Cutler, the CEO of C-3 in 2012, testified that he did not negotiate the terms of the 2012 commission structure with Claimant.

- "6. When the job offer was extended to the claimant from Creative Consumer Concepts, Inc., he was offered the base salary plus a Comprehensive Commission Plan Based on Gross Profits. This plan allowed for commissions to be paid to the claimant at the rate of 5% of gross profit for the first twelve months that product was shipped for an account. For years 2-5, the gross profit commission was dropped to 1%.
- 7. The original commission agreement was amended on January 1, 2011, to extend the 5% of gross profit paid during the first year to include the second year.
- 8. Sometime in early 2012, the claimant requested an additional change to his comprehensive commission plan. On or about April 10, 2012, the claimant drafted what is entitled Commission Structure. This agreement indicates 5% of gross profit paid for the first year of full program system wide in place, and 1% residual for life of account. This Commission Structure is signed by Shad Foos and the claimant.
- 9. Sometime in the middle of 2012, the claimant requested that he be able to draw monies from his future salary and commissions. On July 26, 2012, President and CEO, Bob Cutler, sent an e-mail to his controller, Ginny Harris. The e-mail instructs Ms Harris to prepare a paycheck off of a commission draw for the claimant. The e-mail goes on to say that this draw would be reconciled against the claimant's next quarter commission statement. Further, the e-mail explains to the claimant that this draw would be a recoverable draw, meaning that if he left the organization before the draw was repaid, the amount of money paid to him not based on actual documented sales would be returnable to the company.
- 10. In response to the above identified e-mail, the claimant chose to hold off on this draw.
- 11. The claimant was employed "at will" by the respondent. The claimant received a base salary and commissions.
- 12. The C3 handbook states that "no one other than the CEO of C3 may alter or modify any of the policies in this handbook. No statement or promise by a supervisor, Executive Team member, or department head may be interpreted as a change in policy, nor will it constitute an agreement with a colleague."
- 13. The C3 handbook states that "I understand that no contract of employment other than "at will" has been expressed or implied, and that no circumstances arising out of my employment will alter my at will" employment relationship unless expressed in writing,

"with the understanding specifically set forth and signed by myself and the CEO of C3."

(R. Vol. 2, 61-64). On June 8, 2015, the district court denied Mr. Barker relief. (R. Vol. 2, 89-102). Mr. Barker filed a notice of this appeal on July 8, 2015. (R. Vol. 2, 103-04).

#### **ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES**

I. The Kansas Department of Labor erroneously interpreted or applied the law when it concluded that Mr. Barker's "at-will" employment status precluded a recovery of commissions payable after the termination of his employment.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: This Court's review of plaintiff's appeal is controlled by the Kansas Judicial Review Act, K.S.A. 77-601, et seq. See Golden Rule Ins. Co. v. Tomlinson, 300 Kan. 944, 953, 335 P.3d 1178, 1187 (2014). Relevantly, under the Act:

- "(a) The burden of proving the invalidity of agency action is on the party asserting invalidity; and the validity of agency action shall be determined in accordance with the standards of judicial review provided in this section, as applied to the agency action at the time it was taken."
- "(c) The court shall grant relief only if it determines any one or more of the following:
- (3) the agency has not decided an issue requiring resolution;
- (4) the agency has erroneously interpreted or applied the law;
- (7) the agency action is based on a determination of fact, made or implied by the agency, that is not supported to the appropriate standard of proof by evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the record as a whole, which includes the agency record for judicial review, supplemented by any additional evidence received by the court under this act; or
- (8) the agency action is otherwise unreasonable, arbitrary or capricious."
- "(d) 'in light of the record as a whole' means that the adequacy of the evidence in the record before the court to support a particular finding of fact shall be judged in light of all the relevant evidence in the record

cited by any party that detracts from such finding as well as all of the relevant evidence in the record, compiled pursuant to K.S.A. 77-620, and amendments thereto, cited by any party that supports such finding, including any determinations of veracity by the presiding officer who personally observed the demeanor of the witness and the agency's explanation of why the relevant evidence in the record supports its "material findings of fact. In reviewing the evidence in light of the record as a whole, the court shall not reweigh the evidence or engage in de novo review.

•••

K.S.A. 77-621. With regard to questions of law, this Court exercises *de novo* review. *Cf. Douglas v. Ad Astra Info. Sys., L.L.C.*, 296 Kan. 552, 559, 293 P.3d 723, 728 (2013) ("To be crystal clear, we unequivocally declare here that the doctrine of operative construction, as described in Syllabus ¶ 3 and on page 448 of the Court of Appeals' opinion (*Douglas*, 42 Kan.App.2d 441, 213 P.3d 764), has been abandoned, abrogated, disallowed, disapproved, ousted, overruled, and permanently relegated to the history books where it will never again affect the outcome of an appeal.").

In its ruling, the Kansas Department of Labor (the "Agency") found that plaintiff's claim to "residual and perpetual payments on accounts he initiated for the employer/respondent" was "in direct conflict with the express terms of the appellant's 'at-will' employment as set forth in the Creative Consumer Concepts, Inc. Handbook." (R. Vol. 1, 36, ¶9). Mr. Barker submits that this conclusion was an error of law.

A. The fact that Mr. Barker was "at-will" should not limit C3's liability for unpaid, but earned, wages under Kansas law.

At-will employment is the general rule in Kansas. *Flenker v. Willamette Indus., Inc.*, 266 Kan. 198, 200, 967 P.2d 295, 298 (1998). "[I]n the absence of a contract, expressed or implied, between an employee and his employer covering the duration of employment, the employment is terminable at the will of either party." *Johnston v.* 

<sup>&</sup>quot; (e) In making the foregoing determinations, due account shall be taken by the court of the rule of harmless error."

Farmers Alliance Mutual Ins. Co., 218 Kan. 543, 546, 545 P.2d 312 (1976). The foregoing is the full extent of the at-will employment doctrine, however. The C3 handbook does not purport to alter or expand the concept of employment at-will; it simply incorporates that concept by reference. (R. Vol. 1, 34, at ¶8); (R. Vol. 1, 61).

Mr. Barker's theory is that he earned commissions prior to the termination of his employment through his labor and services to his employer; however, those commissions were incalculable until a later event, to wit: the realization of gross profit by C3, or "shipment." This later event occurred after the termination of Mr. Barker's employment. The Agency concluded that because the later event did not occur before Mr. Barker's employment was terminated, the "at-will" employment doctrine eliminated the obligation of C3 to pay Mr. Barker for the labor and services he provided during his employment.

Mr. Barker alleges that the Agency's error here was its implicit conclusion that Mr. Barker must both: (1) provide labor and services to the employer, and (2) have the payable commission be reduced to a calculable amount, prior to the termination of his employment in order to be eligible for the payment of the commission. The at-will employment doctrine simply does not logically demand this conclusion. Mr. Barker's claim to wages emerges from his service to his employer that occurred fully within the period of his employment.

B. At least two other jurisdictions that have considered this precise issue agree with Mr. Barker's theory of recovery notwithstanding the application of the at-will employment doctrine.

Mr. Barker has been unable to locate any controlling Kansas cases in support of his theory of relief in the context of "at-will" employment. However, he has located persuasive authority from other jurisdictions covering this scenario. In *Schackleton v. Federal Signal Corp.*, the Illinois Court of Appeals addressed a similar fact scenario. Gary Schackleton sold signs. *Schackleton v. Fed. Signal Corp.*, 196 Ill. App. 3d 437, 439, 554 N.E.2d 244, 246 (1989). He received sales commissions as compensation through a structured payment plan, dependent upon the type of sale contract involved. *Id.* at 440. In some instances, he would receive one-half of his commission when the contract was accepted by his employer and the balance after the sign was installed and the customer billed. *Id.* Schackleton was "at-will," and he was fired by his employer. *Id.* Schackleton filed suit, claiming a right to receive allegedly earned but unpaid commissions. *Id.* at 442-43. The Court of Appeals rejected the employer's argument that Schackleton's "at-will" status precluded the suit:

"On appeal, defendant first argues that plaintiff's cause of action for unpaid commissions should not be recognized since plaintiff was an atwill employee and was subject to termination with or without cause, unless the discharge violates a clearly mandated public policy. [citations omitted]. While we agree with the general proposition set forth above by defendant, the issue involved in this case does not address itself to a wrongful discharge cause of action, but rather a breach of contract action for unpaid commissions based upon defendant's 'Pricing and Commission Policy.' No dispute exists that plaintiff was an at-will employee and that defendant could terminate him at any time. Plaintiff's "at-will status,

"however, does not affect his breach of contract claim for unpaid commissions."

"Under the procuring-cause rule<sup>1</sup>, it is established that a party may be entitled to commissions on sales made after the termination of employment if that party procured the sales through its activities prior to termination. [citations omitted]. This principle of law protects a salesman discharged prior to culmination of a sale, after he has done everything necessary to effect the sale. [citation omitted]. The rule applies unless a contract between the parties expressly provides when commissions will be paid.[citations omitted]."

Schackleton v. Fed. Signal Corp., 196 III. App. 3d 437, 443, 554 N.E.2d 244, 248 (1989). As demonstrated by the proceedings below and the findings of the hearing officer, Plaintiff's commissions were the 'procuring-cause' of sales made after his termination and for which he had bargained for commissions. In light of the sound logic of the 'procuring cause' rule, and in light of its consistency with Kansas law, it should be recognized as applicable in Kansas cases as Kansas law.

Similarly, Mr. Barker relies upon *Singer Sewing Mach. Co. v. Brewer*, an Arkansas Supreme Court case, as persuasive authority. 78 Ark. 202, 93 S.W. 755 (1906). In *Singer*, a salesman named W.F. Brewer was a direct-to-customer salesman, but he had a commission plan under an at-will employment agreement that was strikingly similar to Mr. Barker's plan, to wit:

"Third. The company agrees to pay the said party of the second part for all his services the following compensation with the restrictions and limitations hereinafter expressed: (a) A salary at the rate of twelve dollars per week, lost time to be deducted, which shall include the use and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See also 3 C.J.S., Agency, § 187, p. 88.

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