#### ELECTRONICALLY FILED 2016 Jan 11 PM 7:41 CLERK OF THE APPELLATE COURT CASE NUMBER: 114199

Case No. 15-114199-A

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STANTON D. BARKER Plaintiff-Appellant

v.

### KANSAS DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND CREATIVE CONSUMER CONCEPTS, INC.

**Defendants-Appellees** 

BRIEF OF APPELLEE CREATIVE CONSUMER CONCEPTS, INC.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF SHAWNEE COUNTY HONORABLE RICHARD D. ANDERSON, DISTRICT JUDGE DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. 2014-CV-546

Robert A. Sheffield, #25732 LITTLER MENDELSON, P.C. 1201 Walnut Street, Suite 1450 Kansas City, MO 64106 Telephone: 816.627.4400 Facsimile: 816.627.4444

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

Further, Plaintiff's job was to identify leads and then pass them to a salesperson whose job was to sell C3's product. A.R. at 33, ¶2; A.R. Vol. 2 at 97. Plaintiff was not a salesman. Plaintiff, therefore, had no reasonable expectation of a commission unless and until someone else – not him – made a sale and the product then actually shipped (*i.e.*, the customer did not cancel the order before it shipped). *See Moody Investments, Inc. v. Baldwin*, 12 Kan. App. 686, 690, 754 P.2d 810, 813 (1988) (finding that the entitlement to a commission under the procuring

cause rule requires a buyer who is "able, ready and willing" to purchase and discussing able to mean the financial ability of the purchaser to complete the transaction); *Ellsworth Dobbs, Inc. v. Johnson*, 236 A.2d 843, 853 (N.J. 1967) (finding that the broker's right to commissions under the procuring cause rule was not completed unless he has produced a willing buyer and the true test of a willing buyer is not met even if he agrees to purchase if at the time of the closing of the deal, the buyer does not perform). At the time he generated leads, Plaintiff had no indication that he had a "willing buyer."

Finally, as noted in *Shackleton*, the procuring-cause does not prohibit an employer from setting conditions precedent on its obligations to pay an employee for wages. *Shackleton*, 554 N.E.2d at 248 (holding that the procuring-cause rule applies unless the parties provide when commissions will be paid). Because actual shipment was provided here as a condition precedent, the procuring-cause rule does not apply. *See also Kephart v. Data Sys. Int'l, Inc.*, 243 F.Supp.2d 1205, 1229 (D. Kan. 2003) (noting that a court will honor and enforce terms of employment, including a condition on the employer's obligation to pay wages, as long as they are not contrary to law or unreasonable). The KDOL and District Court both found that C3 had implemented a valid condition precedent on Plaintiff's earning of wages. *See* A.R. at 34-35; AR. Vol. 2 at 97. Plaintiff's argument is baseless and his appeal warrants dismissal.

Plaintiff's citation to the 110 year-old *Singer Sewing Mach. Co. v. Brewer*, 93 S.W. 755, 756 (Ark. 1906), likewise fails to support his argument. As the court in *Brewer* stated, "[t]he selling commission *having been earned by the agent while in service*, he could not by discharge be deprived of it, even though the payment was, under the contract, postponed until the money should be collected." *Brewer*, 93 S.W. 755, 756 (1906) (emphasis added). Plaintiff was not a

salesperson and sold nothing to any C3 customer. Plaintiff generated leads that could turn into potential sales of C3's products, but were not guaranteed to do so. Because of the unpredictability of orders – orders were sometimes canceled, sometimes no orders were received from a customer – "[t]he commissions paid were actually earned based upon gross profits on products shipped during the quarter." A.R. Vol. 2 at 97. *Brewer*, like *Shackleton*, stands for the uncontroversial point that *earned* commissions must be paid. C3 takes no issues with that point of law and has complied by paying Plaintiff everything he earned through the date of his employment. Here, however, as the District Court noted, Plaintiff "is attempting to claim commissions on sales not yet made." A.R. Vol. 2 at 100. That position is "not reasonable." A.R. Vol. 2 at 100.

# II. THE KANSAS DEPARTMENT OF LABOR CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT SHIPMENT OF PRODUCT WAS A CONDITION PRECEDENT TO PLAINTIFF EARNING A COMMISSION.

#### A. Standard of Review.

C3 agrees with Plaintiff that the Kansas Judicial Review Act ("KJRA"), K.S.A. § 77-601, et seq., controls review of this case. Further, on appeal, the burden of proving the invalidity of the agency action is on the party asserting such invalidity. K.S.A. § 77-621(a). Where the record reflects that the agency considered the evidence presented by both sides in making its factual determinations, the reviewing court is bound by the agency's fact-finding and cannot reweigh the evidence. *In re Equalization Appeal of Krueger for Year 2010 in Woodson Cnty., KS*, No. 111,216, 333 P.3d 204, at \*2 (Kan. Ct. App. 2014). The reviewing court reviews the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party and does not reweigh competing evidence or assess credibility of witnesses. *Graham*, 284 Kan. at 547, 161 P.3d at 697.

### B. The KDOL Appropriately Considered the Conditions Precedent to Plaintiff Earning a Commission.

Plaintiff continues to argue there was no condition precedent to him earning his commission and that he earned his commission simply by generating a lead. Plaintiff's position simply defies logic.

Contrary to Plaintiff's argument, Kansas law permits employers to impose conditions precedent to an employee's ability to earn wages. *See Kephart*, 243 F.Supp.2d at 1229 (noting that a court will honor and enforce terms of employment, including a condition on the employer's obligation to pay wages, as long as they are not contrary to law or unreasonable). As the District Court recognized, Plaintiff's suggestion that the agency order constitutes a condition subsequent causing an unlawful forfeiture was incorrect because "a reasonable construction of [commission] agreements establishe[d] that commissions were not actually earned until product was shipped. Mr. Barker is attempting to claim commissions on sales not yet made. Such a construction of commission agreements is *not reasonable*." A.R. Vol. 2 at 99-100 (emphasis added).

### 1. The KDOL correctly concluded that the relevant documents and the parties' conduct did not entitle Plaintiff to commissions in perpetuity.

Plaintiff first argues that there is no support for the generally understood point of law that compensation ceases when the at-will employment relationship ends because the C3 Handbook does not explicitly refer to commissions. Plaintiff's position, in essence, is that employee handbooks must affirmatively state the controlling law for controlling law to have any effect. Plaintiff, not surprisingly, offers no support for this novel argument. Plaintiff does not dispute that he was an at-will employee with no express or implied contracts of employment. The

Kansas Wage Payment Act, defines wages as "compensation earned for labor or services rendered by an employee, whether the amount is determined on a time, piece, *commission* or other basis less authorized withholding and deductions." K.S.A. § 44-313(c) (emphasis added). Further, K.S.A. § 44-315(a) provides that "whenever an employee quits or resigns, the employer shall pay the employee's earned wages not later than the next regular payday upon which he or she would have been paid if still employed." Notably, the statute requires that "earned wages" be paid to the employee "not later than the next regular payday." Implicit in the statutory language is that once the employment relationship ends, an employee cannot continue to "earn" wages. *See id.* Plaintiff's argument that he continued to earn wages after his employment ended is flawed, and the KDOL correctly concluded that this argument was "in direct conflict with the express terms of the appellant's at-will employment." A.R. at 36, ¶9.

Plaintiff then argues that the payment of commissions upon the realization of gross profit by C3 must be a condition subsequent because there was no express language in the commission plans stating that Plaintiff's right to earn commissions ended with his employment. As stated above, Plaintiff's commissions were part of his wages as an employee of C3, not a separate contractual relationship between the parties. That right to earn compensation ceased when Plaintiff voluntarily resigned his at-will employment. Furthermore, the KDOL correctly concluded that none of the commission agreements altered Plaintiff's at-will employment status because they did not satisfy the requirements in the employee handbook. *See* A.R. at 34, ¶8; 36, ¶ 9. Thus, Plaintiff's argument about "a *series* of clear, unambiguous agreements between the parties on the subject of commissions" is misplaced. The commission structures never did anything more than detail a component of Plaintiff's wages under his at-will employment status.

The commission structures were not contracts. They did not permit Plaintiff to earn commissions after his at-will employment ended.

Additionally, although presented as a legal issue, Plaintiff actually attacks a finding of fact by the Presiding Officer. The high deference accorded findings of fact dooms this argument. Shortly before Plaintiff resigned from C3, Plaintiff asked C3's CEO, Robert Cutler, for an advance on unearned commissions. In the email responding to Plaintiff's request, Mr. Cutler informed Plaintiff that any commission advance would be a recoverable draw and would need to be paid back if Plaintiff resigned (which he was contemplating at the time) before the commissions became earned. *See* A.R. at 34, ¶6; A.R. Vol. 2 at 62-63. Plaintiff declined to take the recoverable draw. *Id.* The Presiding Officer concluded, based on this email, witness testimony about the email, and other evidence adduced at the hearing, that "it was never [C3's] intent that the commission arrangement would be paid in perpetuity to [Plaintiff], but once his employment ended he would no longer earn commissions." A.R. at 37, ¶10.

Plaintiff now asks the Court to set aside the KDOL's factual finding and re-interpret the email in a light more favorable to Plaintiff for no reason other than that he disagrees with the KDOL's interpretation. The Court, consistent with its reviewing authority, should decline to do so. The KDOL's factual finding about the email and its significance to the parties' dispute is supported by substantial evidence and is entitled to high deference. *Graham*, 284 Kan. at 547, 161 P.3d at 697 ("The court reviews the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party and does not reweigh competing evidence or assess credibility of witnesses."). That Plaintiff desires a different factual outcome does not demonstrate that the KDOL's factual determination was in error.

To the extent Plaintiff seeks to claim that the KDOL's consideration of this evidence was "irrelevant parol evidence," he is noting this as an issue before this Court for the very first time. This argument is not properly before the Court for consideration as he did not raise it before the agency, in his petition for review, or before the district court. *See Angle v. Ks. Dep't of Rev.*, 12 Kan. App. 756, 758, 758 P.2d 226, 235 (Kan. Ct. App. 1988) (stating that an argument that was not raised before the hearing officer, and thus went unchallenged, should not become an issue before the court).

### 2. The *Smith* case is inapposite and does not support Plaintiff's arguments.

Plaintiff continues to urge the reviewing bodies in this matter to consider the ruling in *Smith v. MCI Telecomm. Corp.*, 755 F. Supp. 354 (D. Kan. 1990), as supportive of his arguments. The *Smith* case helps C3, not Plaintiff. In *Smith*, the express terms of the commission plans at issue provided that commissions were *earned* on qualifying sales and would be paid during the first month of billing when the cost of service usage could be determined. *Id.* at 358. In *Smith*, the sale was already made and all that was left to determine was the amount of the commissions based on the cost of service usage by the customer. *Id.* at 358-359.

In this case, the commission structures unambiguously provided that Plaintiff earned commissions at a determined rate of the gross profits on *actually shipped product*. *See* A.R. at 33, ¶3; 34-35, ¶9; A.R. Vol. 2 at 97, 99-100. Unlike the employees in *Smith*, when Plaintiff concluded his duties with the customer, no sale had been made and no product had shipped. Not all leads materialize into customers. Not all customers end up placing orders. Some customers do not place orders for days, weeks, or months; and yet others may cancel their order. A.R. Vol. 2 at 97. Because the factual circumstances and the commission structure in this case differ vastly

from the facts and commission plan in *Smith*, the court's holding in *Smith* is irrelevant and does not provide a basis for the Court to find error in the KDOL's decision.

Plaintiff's argument that the principles of equity support the result he requests is unsupported by any authority and amounts to no more than his reasons as to why the Court should rule in his favor without pointing to any error by the KDOL. These arguments are frivolous and there is no good faith basis for a determination that the KDOL erred in in denying Plaintiff's wage claim.

## III. THE KANSAS DEPARTMENT OF LABOR CORRECTLY EXAMINED PLAINTIFF'S ENTITLEMENT TO WAGES FOLLOWING HIS VOLUNTARY RESIGNATION UNDER ALL AVAILABLE RECORD EVIDENCE.

#### A. Standard of Review.

C3 agrees with Plaintiff that the Kansas Judicial Review Act ("KJRA"), K.S.A. § 77-601, et seq., controls review of this case. Further, on appeal, the burden of proving the invalidity of the agency action is on the party asserting such invalidity. K.S.A. § 77-621(a). Where the record reflects that the agency considered the evidence presented by both sides in making its factual determinations, the reviewing court is bound by the agency's fact-finding and cannot reweigh the evidence. *In re Equalization Appeal of Krueger for Year 2010 in Woodson Cnty., KS*, No. 111,216, 333 P.3d 204, at \*2 (Kan. Ct. App. 2014). The reviewing court reviews the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party and does not reweigh competing evidence or assess credibility of witnesses. *Graham*, 284 Kan. at 547, 161 P.3d at 697.

# B. The KDOL Correctly Concluded That The 2009 And 2011 Commission Structures Did Not Alter Plaintiff's At-Will Employment or Permit Him to Earn Commission After His Employment Ended.

Plaintiff next argues that the KDOL refused to consider the application of the previously-effective commission structures.<sup>1</sup> Plaintiff's argument is factually incorrect. The agency considered *all* commission structures and found they did not alter Plaintiff's at-will employment status and, thus, did not permit him to earn commissions after his employment ended. *See* A.R. at 33, ¶3 ("When the job offer was extended to the claimant from Creative Consumer Concepts, Inc., he was offered the base salary plus a Comprehensive Commission Plan Based on Gross Profits."); A.R. at 34, ¶4 ("This original commission agreement was amended on January 1, 2011, to extend the 5% of gross profit paid during the first year to include the second year."); A.R. at 35, ¶4 ("The original commission plan was modified in 2011 and signed by the claimant and Bob Cutler, CEO/President of Creative Consumer Concepts, Inc.").

After making these factual findings about the initial commission structure and the 2011 amended commission structure, the KDOL concluded, "[i]t is clear that the employer/respondent never intended for a comprehensive commission plan to extend beyond the 'at will' employment of the claimant." A.R. 37, ¶10 (emphasis added). Plaintiff presents no reason whatsoever for this Court to reject the KDOL's conclusion. The District Court also recognized that the KDOL "did decide the question of whether any residual or perpetual commission were earned after the

In fact, Plaintiff argued at the hearing only that the 2012 commission structure controlled the parties' dispute. He did not address either of the first two commission structures. Any claimed error, thus, is in fact Plaintiff's own for trying to litigate on appeal an issue he never raised at the hearing. See Angle, 12 Kan. App. at 767, 758 P.2d at 235 (stating that an argument that was not raised before the hearing officer, and thus went unchallenged, should not become an issue before the court).

employment relationship terminated," and held that no commission was earned after employment ended under any of the commission structures because Barker's "status of at-will employment was not changed by the third commission structure." A.R. Vol. 2 at 98-100. There is no error in the KDOL's conclusion.

#### IV. CONCLUSION.

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